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Questions Presented To The Court

Issue I

Is A Defendant Considered To Be Given A Full And Fair Consideration Of A 4th Amendment.CIaim

At Both "Trial" And "Direct Appeal” As Required By Stone V. Powell, 428 U.S. 465 (1976) If Trail And
Appellate Counsel Failed To Raise The Issue, Forcing A Defendant 'i‘o Raise The Issue For The First
Time Pro Se In A Post Appeal Relief From Judgment Motion That Was Ruled On The Merits Only Once
By Trial Court And Then Denied Leave Or Denied A Review Of The Merits In Every Following State

And Federal Court?

Was There Probable Cause To Arrest The Defendant Without A Warrant; And Was The

Identification Evidence And Testimony Given By The Victim Thomas Jackson At Trial Fruits Of A

Poisonous Tree?

Issue II:

Was The Defendant Denied Effective Assistance Of Counsel When:

Defense Counsel Failed To Move For Suppression Of Pretrial Photographic Identification

From Complainant Thomas Jackson On Grounds Of The Identification Being Direct "Fruit" Of An

llegal Arrest In Violation Of Defendant's State And Federal Constitutional Protections?

Appellate Counsel Failed To Bring The Above Issues Forth On Direct Appeal; As They Are Stronger

Than The Claims Raised?

Issue llI:

Was Petitioner Denied His State And Federal Constitutional Rights To Fair Trial By The Trial Judge,
Who Permitted Witness Against Co-defendant Lepper Only To Testify In The Presence Of Petitioners

Separate Jury?



Parties To The Proceedings

There are no parties to the proceedings other than those listed in the caption. The Petitioner is

Dan Larkin Bozeman ll, an inmate. The Respondent is James Schiebner, a Warden of a

Michigan Correctional Facility.
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Introduction
Reference To Opinions Below
*note: all attachments(appendix's) of this Writ are positioned in the order they are mentioned in

this petition.

Concerning Issue |, The Mar. 5, 2020 opinion of the 3rd Judicial Trial Court appears at Appendix A,
both the Appeal and Supreme courts of Michigan opinions denying leave appear at Appendi(:es

B & C. The Sep. 18, 2024 opinion of U.S District Court declining to rule on the merits appears at
Appendix D, and the opinion of the U.S. 6th Circuit Court of Appeals upholding the decline of review
appears at Appendix E.

Issue I:
Both the U.S. District and 6th Circuit Court of Appeals declined to rule on the merits of this issue.

District Court contends that Appellant's 4th Amendment claim is "unreviewable" and declined

to rule on the merits, essentiélly insulating from Federal review-the errors in trial court's ruling,

a ruling that happens to be the ONE AND ONLY time this 4th Amendment issue was

entertained (in Appellant's post conviction Relief from Judgm;ent motion). Essentially Stone V.
Powell, 428 U.S. 465 (1976) applies only to that class of those cases where the Defendant has
already been given the opportunity for full and fair consideration of his 4th Amendment claim at "trial"
and on "direct appeal". It is also noted that the Supreme Court, in Stone found the sought suppressed
evidence to be harmless in the grand scheme of his case. In Appellant's case, if granted,

it would be the suppression of Photo Array identification evidence by Thomas Jackson and his
in-court identifications of Appellant - and these could never be viewed as harmless pieces of
evidence. Supreme Court stated further in Stone (concerning entertaining 4th Amendment

claims), "Our decision does not mean that the Federal Court lacks jurisdiction over such a claim,

but only that the application of the rule is limited to cases in which there has been such a

showing [denied full/fair opportunity] and a Fourth Amendment violation." Appellant was

simply not allotted this "full and fair opportunity” because both trial and appellate counsel -

(on direct appeal) failed to raise the claim. Furthermore, upon the filing of Appellant's Application for

Habeas Corpus, the District Court accepted this 4th Amendment claim implying that it was NOT



subject to being procedurally barred (because appellant has properly exhausted this claim on the
State level) and now is attempting to place a procedural bar amid review. see District Court's

record: "Order Requiring Responsive Pleading”, (dated: June 8, 2021).

If one can demonstrate that counsel was ineffective by failing to take advantage of Michigan's

"full and fair" procedural mechanism used to litigate 4th amendment claims (as demonstrated in
Appellant's Brief filed at the District Court in "Issue I" and in it's accompanied Ineffective

Assistance of Counsel "Issue [V A)"), then that opportunity was never extended to Appellant-Bozeman.
This 4th Amendment claim wa§ raised for the first time, Pro Se, by Appellant in his Relief From
Judgment post conviction métion (and denied leave at both the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court
of Michigan). This is well after Appellant's Direct Appeal (with counsel). As known by this

Court, Relief from Judgment proceedings/appeals are all treated through the lens of extreme
scrutiny, assumed procedural bar and requested leave to appeal (very hard to prevail on a issue at
this post conviction stage once trial and appellate counsel has failed to raise the issue prior to a

Pro Se Relief from Judgment motion being filed). Likewise, this claim has been subjected to leave

to appeal (after the trial court ruled on the merits of Appellant's 6.500 Relfef from Judgment) with

no real/fair consideration of the facts of the claim (or consideration of the error of the trial court's
ruling by leave). The District Court has done the same in attempting to preclude the ability to appeal
their decision to refuse to review this 4th Amendment claim. If this Court also refﬁses torule on

the merits of this issue, it would further the insulation of this error that Trial and Appellate counsel

failed to litigate.

Concerning Issue Il, The Mar. 5, 2020 opinion of the 3rd Judicial Trial Court appears at Appendix A,
both the Appeal and Supreme courts of Michigan opinions dénying leave appear at Appendices

B & C. The Sep. 18, 2024 opinion of U.S District Court denying the claim appears at Appendix

D, and the opinion of the U.S. 6th Circuit Court of Appeals denying the claim appears at Appendix E.

Issue Il:
Reconsideration of this issue on appeal is actually in support of the first issue. So if this



Court finds merit in the first issue, this Ineffective Assistance of Counsel issue shows case
law where appellants have prevailed in similar circumstances that support the "cause" and
"prejudice" prongs that attach to the first issue of this appeal considering trial and appellate

counsel failed to raise the issue.

Concerning Issue Ill, The Dec. 13, 2016 opinion of the Michigan Court Of Appeals is cited at People
V. Lepper, 2016 Mich. App. Lexis 2258 and the June 27, 2017 Supreme Court Of Michigan's opinion
denying leave is citied at People V. Bozeman, 2017 Mich. Lexis 1314. The Sep. 18, 2024 opinion of
U.S District Court denying the claim appears at Appendix D, and the opir/)ion of the U.S. 6th Circuit
Court of Appeals denying the claim appears at Appendix E.

issue lli:
The prosecution’'s motion to admit testimony was brought under 404(b). This issue was

preserved by objection of all three defense counsels. Appellant was tried simultaneously with

co-defendants Lepper and Diepenhorst. Appellant and Diepenhorst were tried before one jury,



Lepper was tried before a separate jury. On the first day of trial the People broughf the 404(b)
motion to endorse John Wilkinson, who is Lepper's uncle. Wilkinson was the owner of a desert
eagle handgun, one of the weapons believed to have been used in the commission of the offenses
and which was found near the area where Lepper was arrested. The People requested and were
permitted to introduce evidence that the weapon was reported stolen or was taken without
permission, that Lepper is Wilkinson's nephew and thét Lepper has a reputation within his family
of being known to steal. Aithough separate juries were seated, and Lepper was tried by a separate

jury, Wilkinson testified before both juries.



Statement Of Jurisdiction

The United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit ruled, IN PART, on the merits of this petition
on April 2, 2025. The claims therein are properly presented to this Court, as they have been
presented to every lower court required for exhaustion on both State and Federal levels. The

jurisdiction of this Court of Appellant's Writ for Certiorari review lies in USCS Supreme Ct. R. 10(c);

28 USCS 1251;28 USCS 1254 & 28 USCS 1257.



STATEMENT OF FACTS

Parenthetical notations “T1"-“T5" and “S” refer to transcripts of the April 13, 14, 15,

16, 17,2015 jury trial and May 4, 2015 sentencing, conducted in the Wayne Circuit

Court before the Hon. Dana M. Hathaway. Numbers following are transcript pages.

In an eleven count amended felony information, Defendant-Appellant Dan Larkin Bozeman-
(“Appellant”) and co-defendants Steven Joseph Lepper (“Lepper”) and Roger Raymond Diepenhorst
(“Diepenhorst™) were all charged with carjacking a Ford from Thomas Jackson and a Chrysler from
Lana Stanton [MCL 750.529a], assault with intent to murder [MCL 750.83], assault with intent to

do great.bodily harm [MCL 750.84] and felonious assault [MCL 750.82] as to Lana Stanton, assault
| with intent to murder, assault with intent to do great bodily harm and felonious assault as to
Starkeisha West, felonious assault as to Jackson, discharging a firearm at a building [MCL 750.234b]
and felony firearm [MCL 750.227b] in the mmﬁission or attempted commission of the carjackings -
and assaults. The offenses were all alleged to have occurred on November 30, 2014 at 12310
Maiden in the City of Detroit. (See preliminary examination at pp 7, 174-176. Seealso T1 10-12).

On April 13, 2015, Appellant, Lepper and Diepenhorst appeared together for a single trial.
Appellant and Diepenhorst were tried before one jury. Lepper was tried before a separate jury. After
preliminary matters ,(T1 3-13), selection of Appellant’s jury, (T1 14-90; T2 3-8), preliminary jury
instructions (T2 8-20) and opening statements, (T2 20-41), the following evidence was presented:

Thomas Jackson stated that on November 30, 2014 he resided at 12310 Maiden. At about
2:00 a.m. he went to a corner gas station in his 1997 burgundy Ford van to get a cup of coffee. As
he &as returning home he noticed three white males walking in the same direction he was driving.
They all wore dark colored clothing with hoodies. As he parked in front of his home and exited his
vehicle one of the men, whom he identified as Appellant, ran up to him, pointed an automatic
handgun and told him to get on the ground. The other two men, also armed, went to the other side
of his van. Jackson ran. As he ran he heard two or three gunshots. He then hear his van start. When
be returned to his house it was gone. He went to a neighbor’s house and called 9i 1. Later that
morning he made a statement and identified Appellant in a photo array. (T2 42-56, 60-79, 81-83).
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Lana Stanton stated that at 2:30 a.m. November 30, 2014 she was alone in her white 2014
Chrysler at 13106 Hampshire. Her friend Starkeisha was in the house. Three white males walked
toward her. A person she identified as Lepper darted behind her car. As he reached for her car she
drove off. That person apd the two others, whom she identified as Appellant and Diepenhorst all
drew handguns and fired shots in her direction. She identified the handgun held by Appellant as a
Desert Eagle. Fifteen to twenty short were fired. Her door and gas tank were struck. (T2 86-97,
101-104,111-117). She drove to the police station and reported that the persons all wore black pants
and hoodies, and they all wore gloves. (T2 99-100). She later returned to the police station and

. viewed photographs from which she failed to identify any of the defendants, and instead identified

another person because although snitching is not prohibited, she was scared. (T2 105-108,119-120,
126, 141-144). She described the three as a white male, 5'11" to 6 feet tall, weighing 200-250 pounds
with a goatee or beard wearing all dark clothing with a dark handgun; an Hispanic male weighing
220 pounds with sandy brown hair; and a person 6'1" tall aﬂd weighing 150-250 pounds. (T2 139).
Starkeisha West stated that at about 2:40 a.m. November 30, 2014 she was at 1310‘6~
Hampshire. She received a call from Stanton, looked out th; window and saw three men walking
toward Stanton’s car. She went outside to warn Stanton. A black male standing by the rear car door
wearing black clothes and a hoodie told her to go away and shot at her. The bullet broke the glass
door and lodged in the living room wall. She closed the door, returned inside and heard several more
shots. Only the upper part of that person’s face was visible. In court she identified him as Appellant,
recalling that the person was cross eyed.. She was unable to identify Appellant in a lineup and never .
mentioned the person’s eyes. (T2 145-159, 170, 174-180). She looked out the window and éaw a
heavy set man on the lawn, whom she identified in court as Lepper. He looked at her and fire two
shots at her, striking walls inside the house. (T2 161-164). After the shooting stopped, police
arrived. She told them “It was some white guys” wearing white gloves, (T2 165-166), describing
them as “one short white man, one short fat white man and one tall white man”. (T2 183). She was
able to identify Lepper in a lineup, (T2 171), and never got a good look at the third person. (T2 173).
2



Detroit Police Officer Ernest Harris stated that between 2:00 a.m. and 3:00 a.m. November

30, 2014 he and his partner, Officer Kim Rata, were in plain clothes in an unmarked vehicle.

Hearing reports of a carjacking and shots fired, they proceeded to the area to attémpt to locate three

white males in dark clothing. (T3 6-7). He saw three persons running back and forth in an alley and
set up a perimeter. Marked police vehicles arrived within a minute. Appellant was located in a tree
in a yard. He was wearing a black skull cap, a dark hoodie and blue jeans. He was sweating
profusely and had a burr stuck to his clothing. Appellant was taken into custody by uniformed
officers. Harris continued to search, finding Lepper hiding behind a trash can, also sweating,

wearing a grey hooded sweatshirt and blue jean with a skull cap in his pocket and burr stuck to his.

clothing. He saw Diepenhorst removed from the house next door by Rata, also sweating. (T3 9-24,
27-43). Harris and his partner canvassed the area, finding two pairs of gloves in the alley where
Appellant was located and four firearmsin a garbage can in a backyard in the same area. (T3 25-26).

Detroit Police Officer Kimberly Rata was working with Officer Harris, searching for three
white males. She saw some black objects in the alley. (T3 46-47). She notified other units to set
up a perimeter and saw one jump over a fence. After waiting five or ten minutes they went iﬁto the
yard she had seen the suspect enter and saw Appellant in a tree. He was taken into custody by
Officer Metcalf. She continued to search for the others. At the next house she saw her partner place
Lépper under arrest. She proceeded to a nearby vacant house and arrested Diepenhorst. (T3 48-55).
Next they searched the area for handguns. She found two pairs of gloves under the tree where
Appellant was located and two revolvers and two automatic pistols in a garbage can. (T3 56, 58-61).

Detroit Police Officer Lawrence Blackburn and his partner, Officer Glenn Bynes, went to
12310 Maiden on a report of shots fired, and later as an armed robbery. He spoke with complainant
Jackson. (T3 84-86). He saw broken glass and spent shell casings in the streiet and received a
description from Jackson of three white males, which he broadcast to other officers. (T3 87-89).

Detroit Police Officer Gregory Barrett and his partner, Officer Renee Forte, responded to
Dickerson and Elmdale on a report of an armed robbery. He saw ared van. (T3 91-92). The engine

3
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was running and the doors were open. (T3 94). Blackburn and Bynes arrived and told him it was
involved in a carjacking. (T3 95). Waiting for a tow truck, he heard ten to twelve gunshots. (T3 96).

Detroit Police Officer Dwayne Toney was near 13106 Hampshire when he heard gunshots:'
Proceeding in that direction, he was flagged down by West. She stated her house was shot by three
white males. He broadcast the description and observed casings in the street and bullet holes in the
door and walls of the house. (T3 98-100). He collected and placed the casings on evidence. (T3 101).

Detroit Police Officer Derrick Metcalf stated that he and his partner, Officer Michael
Holman, heard the dispatch, went to the area and backed up the search by setting up a perimeter on
Evanston, Dickerson and Harper. As they were walking toward the alley he heard movement and
saw three males run from a backyard into the alley and then into another yard and notified other
officers. (T3 105-110). As he headed eastbound he looked up and observed a male in a tree. The
person, whom he identified as Appellant, was ordered down and arrested by Holman. (T3 110-114).

Michelle Douglas is a civilian employed by the Detroit Police Department as an evidence
technician. (T3 120). On November 30, 2012 she processed a white Chrysler at Gene’s Tow
Garage. Douglas photographed suspected bullet impacts on the driver’s side and damage to the rear
windshield, rearview mirror and headlight. She recovered bullet fragments from under the front
passenger seat, the rear windshield deck, the driver’s side rear door frame and inside the trunk. (T3
121-130). She dusted for fingerprints with negative results and swabbed for DNA. (T3 131-134).

Detroit Police Officer Deborah Stinson is also an evidence technician. (T3 141). She and
Officer Mary Gross were called to the Maiden and Hampshire scenes. (T3 142). She photographed
both locations, including suspected bullet holes at the house on Hampshire, (T3 143-150), as well
as a bandana and four handguns recovered from inside a trash can on Evanston, two pairs of white
gloves found in the alley and a pair of black and grey gloves found under a tree. (T3 150-159). At
the Maiden and Hampshire Street locations she photographed spent bullet casings. (T3 165-168).

Officer Gross recovered the four handguns, identified as an empty .45 in a holster, a .50
Desert Eagle with one round in the chamber and two in the magazine, a rusty .38 revolver with five

4



live rounds and a .38 Smith & Wesson with three live rounds and two spent casinés. (T3 190-197).

Detroit Police Sergeant Robert Wellman stated that on November 30, 2014 he interviewed
Diepenhorst, who said he was trying to get money to hire an attorney to represent him in a child
custody matter. Diepenhorst identified Lepper as his half-brother and Appellant as his girlfriend’s
baby’s daddy. (T3 177-181). Also on November 30, 2014 Wellman conducted a live lineup for
Stanton. She failed to identify Diepenhorst and instead identified a person other than Appellant,
Diepenhorst and Lepper. (T4 39-41). According to Wellman, she was argumentative, told him she
did not want to be there, and later told him she deliberately selected the wrong person. (T4 41-42).

Before the Lepper jury only, (T3 198), Detroit Police Officer Terry Cross-Nelson stated that
at 5:30 p.m. November 30, 2014 she interviewed Lepper, who initially stated that he, Diepenhorst
and Appellant were just in the area, and did not commit any crimes. (T3 199-205). He then stated
that he and Diepenhorst had revolvers with them for protection, and that they along with Appellant
robbed one man and shot at someone else. According to Lepper, Appellant robbed a man in a red
van and shot at t white Chrysler. Lepper'denied participating in either of the offenses. (T3 207-209).

John Wilsenson stated that he is he owned a .44 Desert Eagle handgun; that the gun was
stolen from his home; and that Lepper is his wife’s nephew’s son. (T4 6-8). He did not report the
theft until December 17, 2014. (T4 18). The gun replaced another identical Desert Eagle he had
reported stolen in 1995. (T4 14). He did not know the serial number of either weapon. (T4 13,15).

The parties stipulated that bucal swabs were taken from Appellant, Diepenhorst, Lepper and
Jackson for DNA testing, and that maps used by the People accurately representat the area. (T4 4-5).

Jennifer Jones is a Forensic Scientist in the Biology Unit of the Michigan State Police
Northville Forensic Lab, and an expert in Forensic Biology. (T4 19-20). She received the bucal
swabs from a serologist, from which she obtained complete profiles, and swabs taken from the
handguns and the bandana. (T4 25-28). Swabs of the four handguns each contained a complex
mixture ﬁom‘ which she could make no conclusions. (T4 29-30). A swab of the gearshift and
steering wheel of Jackson’s vehicle were consistent with a mixture of two individuals, including a
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major male donor. Jackson matched the major male donor and excluded Appellant, Diepenhorst and
Lepper. The low levels of the minor donor were insufficient for her to make any comparison. (T4
30-31). The bandana DNA profile was mixed ax;d she was unable to make any comparisons. (T4 32).

Michigan State Police Detective Sargent Paul Flores works in the Firearms and Toolmark
Unit of the Metropolitan Detroit Laboratory. He is anexpert in firearms and tool mark identification.
(T4 45-46). He examined the four weapons and various bullet fragments and fired cartridge cases
recovered in this matter. Three of the firearms were operable. The fourth was made operable after
the cylinder was oiled and cleaned. Three of the fired bullet jacket fragments were so damaged and

- mutilated, he could only determine that they were .44 caliber class or larger and had right twist

rifling. All four were inconclusive as to the .45 caliber Springfield and eliminated as to the .44
Remington Desert Eagle pistol and both .38 special revolvers. (T4 55-68). Three-45 auto caliber
cartridges were examined and found to have been fired by the Springfield. Two .38 special caliber
fired cartridge cases could not be identified or eliminated as having been fired from either of the .38
special revolver. (T4 68-70). He determined that two rounds were determined to have been fired
from the Desert Eagle. Three others were determined to haye been fried from the .45. (T4 70-73).
Detroit Police Sergeant Christopher Staton is the officer in dharge of the case. He stated that
on November 30, 2014 he interviewed the complainants. (T4 80). The People thenrested. (T4 84). - -
Appellant, Lepper and Diepenhorst all waived their right to testify. (T4 87-91). After areview of ...
jury instructions, (T4 92-105, 109-113), the defense rested. (T4 113). Following closing arguments,
(T4 114-181) and final jury instructions (T4 181-201). Appellant was found guilty of carjacking both
Jackson and Stanton, assault with intent to murder Stanton and West, felonious assault as to Stanton,
Jackson and West, discharging a firearm at a building and felony firearm. (TS5 9-12). From

concurrent terms of 200-400 months for 2 counts of carjacking and 2 counts of assault with intent

"to murder, 5-10 years for discharging a firearm at a building and 2-4 years for three counts of

felonious assault, consecutive to a term of 2 years for felony firearm, (S 15), he appeals as of right.



Timeline Of Investigation

The Complaint:

A) At approximately 2:00am (11/30/2014), Complainant Thomas Jackson
places a 911 call with the Detroit Police Department reporting that
he had been robbed for his van by 3 white males dressed in all black
clothes. Review People's - Exhihit #2 {audio of 911 call placed by
Thomas Jackson); (T2 64-65).

B) At approximately 2:45am (11/30/2014). Complainant Lana Stanton
drives to the Detreoit Police Department to report that she had been
shot at by "3 white boys™ that she believed were trying to kill her
(T2 99-100,124).

Responding To Dispatch:

A) In an under-cover vehicle and in plain civilian clothes, Detroit
Police Officer Kimberly Rata and her partner Erpest Harrié began to
search for 3 white males in the area, located three suspects and
called for a set up of a perimeter on the area.

j.) Officer Ernest Harris states he announced himself and his
partner as police officers. (T3 38).

ii.) Officer Kimberly Rata states she never heard her partner say
anything other than radio communication with other officers. (T3 66-
67).

B) Officer Metcalf (a officer apart of the perimeter) finds
Defendant Bozeman hiding in a tree and ordérs him down Defendant
complies, as he states: "don't shoot me, I've been watching the news
and you kill people.”

C) The Defendant was then identified as a black male, placed under



arrest by officer Michael Holeman (Officer Metcalf's partner) and
then he “pat down/searched the person of the Defendant; revealing no
weapons or evidence of involvement in the crime at large. Still to
be taken into detention for further investigation without probable
cause ., see attached Arrest Reports of Officer Kimberly Dewey-Rate and
Dffice Michael Holeman.

Complainant's Statements:

A) Between 11:30am and 12:10pm (11/30/2014), all 3 Complainants of
this case made statements with the Detroit Police DBepartment with
matching descriptions of the assailants that committed this crime: "3
white msles, dressed in dark colored clothes". see attached Police.

Statements by Thomas Jackson, Lana Stanton and Starkeisha West.
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i.) At trial identifying the Defendant, Starkeisha West changes
her description of her assailants, states her assailant was a black
male with crogsed eyes. West never mentions this black male with
crossed eyes 1in any of her previous testimony or statements with
police, also was vnable to identify Mr. Bozeman from the photo array
of black males (T2 170,174-185). see also attached Interrogation
Record, conducted by C,A.T.S Detective Dana Russell. (one-on-one
evaluation of Defendant, [direct attention to "eye defects" Section];
confirming that Defendant is not cross eyed)).

B) At this point Defendant Bozeman had been in Detroit Police
Department's custody for 9 hours without probable cause. Compare
attached Arrest Report - Detainee Input Sheet (direct attention to
“date/military time of arrest” Section) to time statements were given
with police.

Photographic Array:



A) Between A4:42pm and 5:09pm (11/30/2014), Detroit Police Officer
Terry Cross-Nelson produced and conducted a photographic array for
all 3 Complaints made up of 6 BLACK males containing a picture of
Defendant Bozeman: déépite the detailed descriptions given to the
police of: "3 WHITE males in dark colored cloths,”

B) Thomas Jackson then identifies Defendant (a black male) as an
assailant, inconsistent with his very detailed description he gave
just hours before. see. attached Photo Array Report (Thoma§ Jackson).

C) Lana Stanton and Starkeisha West were unable to 'identify
Defendant Bozeman in this array. see. attached Photc Array Report
(Lana Stanton and Starkeisha West).

i,) Lana Stanton admits on top of being scared of the crime she
also was scared of a particular officer at the photo array that made
her not want to participate in the photographic procedure. see.
attached Preliminary Exam Transcript pages 101 line: 15-25 and 102
line: 1-11.

ii.) Lana Stanton furthermore admits she was not scared enough to
stop her from deliberately picking the wrong person in the photo
array pertaining to Defendant's co-defendant (her aenly photo
identification made). see. attached Preliminary Exam Transcript pg.
102 line: 12-19. | _

D) This photographic array procedure conducted on (11/30/2014) for
all 3 Complainants was performed while Defendant was in-custody of
the Detroit Police Department, 2 of the 3 without counsel present.
see. attached  Detainee Input  Sheet,(direct  attention to
"date/military Jtime of arrest” Section). see also. attached Photo

Array Report for Thomas Jacksen, Lana Stanton and Starkeisha West,



(direct attention to "date”, "time" and “"others present' Sections).
Preliminary Examination:

A) At Preliminary Lana Stanton admits she was shown photographs of
the Defendant for a second time (the day of Preliminary) by an
unknown officer before giving her Preliminary testimony. see
attached Preliminary Exam Transcript pages 80 line: 11-25, and 81

line: 1-2. Stanton recants this admission at trial. (T2 121-122).

le



R LSSUE I
Defendant - Bozeman was dened ConsShiviiona] Pro"‘ec.“ons when he was
illeqally osrested a5 i+ was warmntless and withevt probable cavSe;
“ond the me‘I’fﬂ'w._Hon evidence and +‘5+:m°"‘7 PreSen'f‘ec) ot +ria) +hat
StemS From the arrest ave £rvits of o poiSonov§ Free,

Standard Of Review -

Once a +rf&] Jwbc ‘10-5 ﬁuné ‘H:o.“‘ the pre Secutor LG-S met 'H\e ‘our‘z)eh op
eshbl.sl—,.w Probo.lale Coaule Q)r o wafrchsS‘ o.rreS')' \mS Ae,ison wi i Le_
revecSe d only if 1+ conSH tes on abuSe op JnSc_re“'nov\ People,v Lo.y& S+on

57 Mich. App. 664, 673,674 (1975) Reople. V. Thateher, 83 Mich, Agy.
527,529,269 Nw2.d 210 (1978),

This Court review$ de novo o question of constitvhional low. People V. Smith,
98 Mich.466,475 (2015)(A dve process violation preSents o

Con Shtvtional qUCS+"0n 'Hwo.+ +his Covrt review$ de novo )

A[gumw""

A) A police officer who heS received by rdio the detuils of the commission .
OC o @e_lmy, malqu o JcScn‘o‘Hon o{-’ 'H"& perge;“ro."‘ors ko.s ProLo.ue_ CQVS& L

+o ovrest perSons MATCHING: +het Je.Su‘\p‘hon who are draveling on a
PoSSIHe_ eSeape voute Lromm the Scene of Hhe crime 5‘10“'Hy after i+5
CommisSion.” Pe.opfc V. KnigH‘, 41 Mich. ;4”:. 2953 Q‘} 7?-), accord . Peopfa V
Scott, 23 Mich. App. 548,570 (1970) MCL 7£4.15 @),

ProLaUe_ coavSe aS defined Ly He é“’ Civeuit:

ReoSonable &row).S for Lcl.‘e(” .SUPPO'P"'&J t’Y |e_S$ 'Hw.h

1



Pf“\mm focie PWOP but tore thon mere SuSpICion.’/
Uniled 54-0.&5 V. po&i!‘o/ 52 F£39 \(2.0( 122-123 (éH‘C'.Y‘.

1995) quoking US. V. Benneht, 905 F.29 931,934 (6™
Cir. 1990)). |

B)Ih Depeném-lﬂgw_e.mo.h's Co.Se, he 3.3 no%- PH— ‘H’te_
AQSC—\";P"‘;OT\ of e QSSoilun“-sALo“'k 'oy clotheS ond
even a COM‘P\C‘I‘QJY dif Fecent fo.ce. Pe,ople. V. Dwehpoﬁ‘, 99

Mich. A‘Jp.ég7 (quo)( Court held no pm(:o.Ue cavSe For
the arrest due 1o o c)e.ScrIPHon given Ly P\\one by the
PoliCe_ of a SuSpiciovsS mon Yot 379 not e_Xo.cHy

moteh defendant’S oppearance).

OThe only rise +o SuSpicion wa$ Defendan¥s alleged

‘ﬂ\g\'\"“ from OfCicer Kim(,crly Re¥a ond Ernest Harrg
who wvere both Inp\o&n c[oH\eS, 4‘mve.\in_9 N on Under -

cover (clvi\io\n) vehicle.

l. F’SH‘ alone 1S inSufficient Ff‘oLaL\e covSe

For an ocrest, Peop\e V-' Dogom S,lé Mich. AP? Hii Gq 70),
United Shades V.Green, £70 F.24 1148 (148)).

12



S ~"i-'[‘t‘-t'»°f<"“'\\9 fo the M‘NLY‘Hna ofFicer’s f‘epods, +he most JdeSeriphve
" one, g9Ive,\n ‘ay Officer Qo.‘\‘o., iS very clear on Several very i mpoﬁ'o.w')‘ Po{n-}g
concerming the foct +hat probable cavSe wos not established for 1,

arm&*l- O‘p De,?&néom‘}' BOZ&M‘M\. I,Oh(e ‘H\e, Depenéam“‘ wo.§ ané l'h -Hv.g
yoara, he was .ijnP\eé *S o ‘ola-ck mole Ly Ocp;af Rato. and other

aNLSHnj officers (ho+ p:++in3 Hhe C)LS(X’;P‘\';OY\ of +he Pcrfze,‘l‘fd‘or‘s ot
10{92'); 2. Defendont wos then Plo.ce) in hand cWfFS ond c,ov;Se,quemHy

Searched without resvlt/or evidence Iv‘n\(fhé Hhe Defendant 4o the
Chme G—\rm terms “withort tncident” are vSed 4o deSenbe the Search.
and orre$t 1n other (70];6?— oFPicer’s repof+5/ $+a+mus+>; 3, The ya.r9
the Defendant was found and arrested in was +hen Se.arolne,J, oS well
as the weste baskets therein, by OFficer Rota with no regults of |
evidence ‘inkiha the Defendant +o +he trime; H. At Pt point the
Defendant was o¥en t 'Hy& Jetention center (oy arceStin 19 o ficer
Holemian and his partner OFficer MetcalF (See attached arrest report
of 0PRier Michae! Hole,mo.n); 5.0Ffcer Roto Hhen pmu.e)s +o the
he,X‘\' "\005&, Sen.mh)@ 'Hwe. yomc) wf'H'l o NSUH&, 'H»en Prga_eJ Ky ""o 'Hne
hext hoUSe,aP-la Se.arckivzg the Leont and vear yo.ré w h no YESUH‘SI
She 'H\e,h inters the o.ban doned home omd £inds a white wale in"”w
interior of +he ‘r\ome, and avrrest s Hm; é.OFﬁcer Rata '“&h r'c:\urns to
the yard the Defendant wos fomd and arvested v ‘and re-Searches

the yoro and Some waste basSKets She did “oe‘pora, but +Hhis Fime
She 0:»35 ‘wa" Lam; \Ae\t) Pire,ourms f)‘ace) ;hS?ae. *H\e_ waste 'mske‘t

on top of Yhe Frugh inside in plain Sight (See Peoples exmibits op
admitted pho‘\‘oampks, Showt ng location ond PoS."Hon Lrearms where
‘(guné)) on +his Secohéu‘y Search other officers of +he Yeam

i3


imporla.nl

F;m) 3lov¢S m the yo;ré (o;\- +his Po?n"‘ the Defendant hed been
ox‘re.&\'&Q cmc) 'l’a\(e,h +o *Hne Jefl'u\Hon Cefhkr ayproxfma"'e,\r 50-‘-}5
minvie s 030), See ottached arcest rePor+ of OFficer K"W\"ef"‘y Ratu.

lli, Pf‘oha.u& cauSe ﬁr on Warane,SS aﬂ‘eS‘l’ Con Oh‘y Le.
65“‘&&“8‘1&3 on "'hb i\f\Q)fMOA—fan kY\OWh 'I"o 'H"IL‘PCA-CG- OP«C.'C&(‘ or "\\S

of fice at the Hme of the arrest Pesple Vi La Girange, YO Mich,

App. 342 (1972) People V. Stewort 232 Mich. 670 (1925) United Skakes
V. Brown 448 F 34 2.39 @.OOQ Terry V. Ohio, 392 US. | Oqég)(Whgh o
Pro(,e.Lk cavSe 1< -l—Le,quaSHov», the Courts must conSider O“Iy \\'er,
focts ovailoble o the officer at the moment of +he Seizure,.”)

w. After the avrest o Texry “Pd' down ¥\ 0g pro’pome)
reVe&l;Qg ho .S.’Ons of criminel ;V\VO\VM‘“"‘ or weapons of ony kn‘m)_
Te,rry V.Ohig, 392 US. | (Hé@. Aller eVa\wL*in& the dual Factor
JiScrcPency in deSeriphion between +he Pefpe'\“'d'o'fs ot lm@e, and
Mv. Bozeman (r‘&ce. and cloH\e,S)in addition to the Coct Phot there
were ho PireamS recovered +o be vSed 4, es+a(g[,‘5k‘_fm‘aable cavSe.

for an arreSt, € the ofBcexs involved wece SHI dissatisfied +he
wiée\y pm-‘ficz.é procdure_ Shown n United Stotes V. Bmwn,‘-l‘ix F3d

at 243 @OOQ 'oe,iy@ ‘aﬂ‘@ e vickim Yo Her locotion ‘So he or
She. CDVU n)&n‘k-py Mr'_ Bozanmm aS a SuSpe,c:\' ol \’\O"’; Shoum ‘\mfe,
been the next Step but +his $+e,p was never taken L; the Debrmrt

Police Focce and Mr Bozeman was SH i +\"¢mSpor+e,J +o the
De‘\"fos"'- De;"e,n"'fon Cen“'ex:

Y
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VI n Mr. Bozemon'S detention he was : Pho{—g&m‘olme,é and +his Pid—ure
waS uSed i o ‘)\10\'9 arfay proce,Jwe' thet wos condected +he Same
c‘)ay as Depenéo-n‘\'ff oxn&t o.nc) CDM?“’J"M\'} Thomo.S\D—o:LKSon (One
O‘p 'Pne 'Hw*ac. cam[)lo»;\r\o.nﬂ), ié&n“‘:ﬁeé Mr. 8020“@“ (0- ‘o\u.,l( ma |e))-
nconSistent with his +wo Prev\'ovS c)e..Sur;?HOHS aiven hovrs bedfbre

Hhis photo avray prooe,&we.(in prhcvlae pectaining "‘0“"06?-:’ his two
prior deSonphions matehed, beiha "Hrvee white Mo.\ef). United States,V
Crews, Y5 U.S Y63 quO)(Cour"&nmh,c) mohon Yor SuppreSSion a{;
Pm{-n‘a] photogrophic 1dent Ficotion evidence on 9unds of the
P\b{-@m‘,h vSed w the pretrial p‘nd’o 0foy wa$ o divect teSult o an
Unlaw®il detention becausSe e arvest lac¥ed pro\ao.‘ole. awSe).

Tdenh Bications mosSt be \\m+3cno.lly baSed vpen the meHO" of the
witness; ”[one, of Y Poin'hc Hhet must be met before aJmiSSfon].
State V. Low Son, 352 Or.724. 241 P3d 673 @-012).'“\«- farnesS of
the idenhification pmuz,c)uf‘c muSt be evaluvated in the lw‘“"’ of the
'l‘o'l-o.\:"'y of the civcumStomces. The test is +he Je,gree of 5&{9\9&5“@7\
inherent 1n the wmanner 1n which 4he SvSPw‘}"S Pho'l'@m\ok ' S |
PweSe,n‘i'e.A }o the witness for idenhificabion. See United States V.

Zeiler, Supra, 1308 [US.V. Zeiler, 427 E24d 1305 (307 (CA. 3 H70)l
People V. Lee, 341 Mich, 618 (1974), People V. AnderSon 389 Mich 1S5,

215-220 0973).‘Re_\9ar3 le5S of how +he initial miSident: £ication com;,s
a‘oouf the witness Hhereafher is ap‘\‘ to retain in hi,s mMemory +he

ima‘tse, of the P\qo%’o&m?h rather than of the perSon actvally Seem,
Y‘cJug'y\,ﬁ 'H’l& 'lTu$+wgr"'\r|iy\eSS Op 5ub$e<}ve_n+ ll‘hQ—VP or COVr""roOM
iden bification. “ Simmon s V. United State S, 390 U.S, 377 3 84 (}948),

15
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‘Norcovor,\[}]'i' i o matter of common experience that once o withess

ha s Pa‘c,kac) ovt the accuSed ot the limevp, he iS not ’ik&’y "‘odo back
on his word |d—er on, So +hot In pm"'uu_ the 158ve of ;Jeh'l'i"‘y may
‘Gn the abSence of other relevant ev»’&nce) for all Pmdw‘a:.) purpase
be defermined there and them, before the +rul’ “ United States V.
Wade, 338 U.S. 218 (1967). |

D)Depenécm+ -Boze,mo..n'S. accest ond Lon Sp.quen“' Ph°)r°’
9raFk€c arroy Procaéure. Violoted Michbo,n Con$hkton

of 1963 Arkicle | Seckion 2 oS i+ agplies +o ‘equal pro-
tection of the Jow" and diScriminodion “%9@3 nst...

race, color* Ackicle | Seckion 1l a5 i applies Yo - The
perSen. .. Shall be Secure From unrenSenoble Seswchel
and Seizures’ Arkicle | Sechon 17 oS it apphes +o

“due process of \gw"J. ond U.S. Censktidion Amenémen{
 oag it apphies to “The right of +he people +o be Secwre
i their perSons, ... agenSt unreaSon oble Searches and
Seizures”, Amendment 5 o8 it apglies to dve process

of low" [cn‘m(nai M‘-\'onS],Amethe,V\‘(‘ 4 ag 4
apphes fo due proce$s of law” ond “equel po -

techon of +he law” [Pr}vi\ege,s of cfhzenS],

16
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« Al evidence obtained in violedion of the US. Const.
4™ Amendment 1S, by thok Same ovthority inadmiss-
ide in Shake Court Mopp V. Olio, 347 LS. £43 (1861),
teh denied 368 US. 871 (The €ourt held thet the
Jve PmCe,SS ClovSe of the Vovrjreﬂ'\% amendment ex-
‘\'ehc)eA fo Hhe Stete the fourth amendment right

019‘““9 wnreoSonoble SeorcheS and Seizure 5)

I'F H\e IAGY\'\‘\CC#J"‘OT\ Woa. S the -Prv& QP o ‘Q)ur'\—‘n A-
'w\evxc}m&n{' Vtoldnonl ujr muﬁ‘ be SuppresseJ-Dunmway\/‘

New York, 942, U.5. 200,99 . CH 224860 L EJ. 2¢ B2H
(1379).

Beck V Ohio, 379 US.89;85 S. ¢k 223 (18¢4), T# go0d
fuith olone were the fest the ()fO"‘QC‘\';OY\ of the Y™
Amendment would evoporote and the people would be
“Secuve in their perSon,keuSeS, paperS, and effecks”
ohly tn the diScretion of the police. "The p\"o‘oaUe

covSe tesk then 1S om aLJed-wa one; for Here to
be probable, eovSe , the facks must foa Such a§ would

wwrev\% (2§ (oe.llél’rfy ‘oy o rmSonaL[e, W\om. [E.mp%o.scS

Added].

{7



Uniked States V. Grreen, 670 £2.4 1148 (1981), This
Court heS held thot ﬂ;ﬁ'kjr 1S not o “reliable indicotor
oP&uiH' without other ciccumétance$ o moKe 11S
import  less$ Q\Mlm:s(}ou.s.” Hinkon V. United Stotes 137 US. |
App D.C. 388,424 F.24 876,879 (D.C. Cir. 1969)(Foot -
note ovn‘nHeé)OP CavrSe_,\\whe,v\ Couplec} wi th Sped’cfc

‘ knowle%se. on +he Par’r. of Hhe officer re,‘@kv:s the
SuSpeck to the evidence of the crime-,(PlisH.or evaSioh)
Moy Proper'y be ¢onideced in aSSeSS€n9 pfiLaLle
casSe,” Hinton V. United States 424 F24 79 (Fooknote
omitred) (quoting Sibron V. New York, 342 V.S. 40, 64,88 -
S.ch 1889 1904; 20 L. £J. 23 417 (1968)), but flight
alone is inSufficient 4o give the Pﬁlice' probeble

covSe to orreSt.”

‘An arre$t for inves\-iﬁo}ory puréoSeS i\(@&]. Peop\e V.
Mackn 44 Mich. App. €44 (\qEO),- AlSo See Lllinais V. |
Brown 422 U.S. 590 (\‘US)(IF Mitanda Worning, by
H\emSe\ves, weve held to ottenvote the taint of
on unconShituHenal arreSt reqacdless of how wanton

qH\

and purpoSeful  Hhe Amendment violabion the effect

|8
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- -

of the “e.xc.lusionowy rvle would be vasﬂh"‘hny dilvted,

-You.w\/. Conway, £98 F. 343 69 (ZJ Civ. Zoiz) cert. alem‘eJ, 134 §.c+ 10
(20\3)<in-aur+ ;Aen'kﬂaxken S""O"l“) l‘a"& been S"PP“'SSQJ 410'19 with

|?ne,uf> enkificotion oS Pruts of wnconshtvtiona| avrest without
pro bo.ble c’.muSe),

.S”V&Y"H\‘ornc. Lomber V. United S{'a‘}'es, 25] U.S. 385 6910){ ﬂly;hﬁ
upon +he PremiSe, thet +he Government Shovld ho} be able +o reap }he

\;ahe.ﬁﬂ's of ”—'5 own W"“-’Qj‘)‘"“"ﬁ , Je,clamé +het once an fmpermiSSi‘ole_

police. achion 1S diScovered ond proven, the “excluSionary yule? will 523131
ond will o?em}g }o SvepreSS +he pﬂmu‘y evidence o§ well as 2l F
 devivahive evidence obkained o “Feuits of o \OoISonov.S ree.” ¥ ol g0

o.ﬂ)lfe,c) by State covets PeoPle. 4 EckkuJ'}, 761 NYS. 24 338
(3 Deph. 2003)
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ISSVETIL

Both the DefinSe and Afopa“o:\-e covnsels for Defendant - Bozeman were
inefFective for ﬁih@ +o 'mve.s-)-i9q+e. ond pre.Sen} in moten or brief

to the courts the above claims,
Standard OF Review:

The Fef‘grmknce of counSe] claims ore mixed qveSHWS of Jaw and
‘Cac."' 'H\oJ‘ ave revfewec) de. novo. S"'r‘fck tamA V Washl\@"’on/ ‘-Iéé U.s éé 3
(Iq 8#)(3&&03:1!0"‘ muSt .Slnow:(f.) comsels Fe.r&rmo.noe. was Jeﬁciehi'l and (Z)

the Jeficient performance pmJuJiceJ the defen Se,.).
' A'Zﬂ” ment: |

Both coumSel’s Per%rmwcd fell below an O(D‘eml;ve Standard of
reaSonableness; Hthis performance woS erippling to the Defendant, and -
highly prejudicial. Strickland V. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,104 S. C+. 1052,-
80 L.€. 29 674 (198Y)(Coonse] has a duty to investigate all leads
Felevant +o the merits of the caSe) DickerSon V. Bctgfey,'-i!:;_? F3d ¢90
(é”' Cir 2004) (Couv‘"‘ held 54'1‘0.4-%9:6 deciSions made offer less Hhon

20



complete invegtgotion did not pasS muSter a$ an ex-
cSe Since o Fll investigation would have vevealed
a lorge body of ml+'i\9drin&9 ev;JenCe);ngehS V.
Smith 539 US.Slo,537; 123 § ¢t 2527, 156 L.EJ. 24
471 oo 3)(The prejvdice pong 1S Sfisfied if there
1S reaSonable probebility thot of least one ror
would have Strvek o different Ballance” 1€ the

evrorS in que&h‘oh were excdvded from ﬁfal),ﬂ\e.
ineffechive asSittance of both counSels Defendan +-

Bozeman received deprived him of his Michigan
ConShitubion of 1963 Arkicle | Sechion 20 rights as
it opplies fo the right o... aSSistance of counSel
For his or her defenSe” and o have Such reaSonoble

0551 Stonce oS Moy be nec&SSw‘y +o Pe.rfed- 6nd

Pr‘oSecu‘Pe on appeal.f')- and U.S. ConStitvhon Amend-

ment b r‘{SH aS i appl{eS o “‘Hm rfsl& b...

lnwe ‘Hne 0SS Stance of counSel For lnis Je_moen Se.”

21



K)Defense counSel was inefFeckive For Failure +o
méve, for SuppresSion of predriol photograghic Wden -
F fication rom complainont Thomas JecKSon on
gromds of the i denh Pcotion lae,in\9 o diveck Fruit”
of an illegal orrest in violation of Defendunt’s
Shte and Federal ConShibukion proteckion,
‘Gentry V. Sevier, 537 F. 39 838 (7" Cir. 2010)(Courts
held counsel ineffeckive in failing to move to
SuppresS of obyeck to the odmission of evidence

on _"lH\ Amendment 3mvn35).

Grumbley V. Burt 591 Fed. Appx. Y8T (6% Cir, 2015)

Trial Cothe.l wea S \'\;he.'?@ad—{ve. for -‘pa(“ng to
Mmove o Suppre$S evidence i\\ﬁ&o.“y Seized From

o\

Gﬁm\uey‘s ’\ome)- we  cnnot know whot Girvmbley’s

trial counSel’s reaSons were for not ‘Fi“h;g a Mo-
bon o Suppress... [but) ik i diPRicult to conceive
of o le\gﬂima\-e rial S“‘V‘&"‘Q\sy or tockical advan-

foge to be gained by not Filing o motion $o

Suppre S ")‘

22,
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B)Appe”o-{"e. counSel wo.s }ne€fec¥ive for .'Pa”we, to t,ﬁ'ns
Yhe above 15Sves forth en dicect appeal; 5 g they ave
Sh‘or&ser Hon the claams roiSed. 4

'Showers V. Qearc), 6’35 F. 33 625 (BJ Civ. ?.Oll)(APpe“o:l‘e
counSel Failed to roiSe meritorious Cl’\e“ehﬁe of

triol counSel’s ineffectiveness Jrhereb/v\\ ignoring N
oubumen-\* ‘_901}\3 direcHy 1o the 1SSve of ouilt Hhat is
‘cleorly Strnger than Hhose presented””)

~ ~Joshua V. Dewitt, 34] F. 3d 430 (6" Cir. 2003) Appellant's
CounSel was 1neffeckive In ‘Po.f]inﬁ to ra§$eq+hAm'eth

ment iS$ve which, althovgh not litigeted o} trial

-level, covld have been raiSed om o.ppeo.l‘ 0.5 p)a?n error).
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‘White-V. Roper, 2004 U.S. Di st lexis 29076 (Teial
Covnel was ineffective for fail(nﬁ k che_llehge o
,SuSSés+ive Pfa%hl 1dentificotion appe\la-}-e counSel

woS tneflective €or 'Cam'nj +o Oxppeo.l in - Court 1den-
Fificakions of Defendant).

eHenderSon V. Pg\mer/ 730 F.34 554 (20} ._5_)(Cour1ts held

Wheve hobeas petitioner'S appellote counSe] wa$ in-
effective For poﬂ\‘hj to voiSe errorS of +Hrial coun-
Sel on Jiceck appeal o “pebikioner has couSe for his
erfor [op Codling to roiSe claim$ on direct appeal]
becovSe it was o direct reSult of ineffechve af-
Sistonce of appellate counSel.” quoting Willtarn$ V.
Ander Son 460 . 3d 789,799~ 800 (6 (. 2000)
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ISSUE IIL
Petitioner was denied his State and Federal constitutional rights
to a fair trial by the trial judge, who permitted witness against
co-defendant Lepper only to testify in the presence of

Petitioner's separate jury.

Issue Presevation and Standard of Review

The prosecutor's motion was brought under MRE 404(b) (which
is identical to FRE 404(b)), and the issﬁe was preserved by
the objection of all three counsel to the admission of the
testimony. (T1 5-10). The 6th Circuit Courts generally reviews
evidentiary issues for abuse of discretion but there is an "on
going dispute in this circuit concerning the proper standard
of review of rule 404(b) evidence." United States v. Carter,
779 F.3q 623, 625 (6th Cir. 2015). Sometimes, this court will:
(1) review for clear error the district court's determination
that prior acts took place; (2) apply de novo review to a
district court's determination that the evidence was offered
for a permissible purpose; (3) and review for abuse of discretion_
the determination that the probative value of 404(b) evidence
is not substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice. See, e.g.
United States v. Mack, 729 F.3d 594, 601 (6th Cir. 2013); United
States v. Clay, 667 F.3d 689, 693 (6th Cir. 2012); United States
v; Geisen, 612 F.3d 471, 495 (6th Cir. 2010). Other timés this
court has applied a single-tier abuse of discretion standard.
See, e.g., United States v. Jenkins, 593 F.3d 480, 484 (6th

Cir. 2010); United States v. Allen, 619 F,3d 518, 524 n.2 (6th
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Cir. 2010) (noting that this <circuit has "repudiated the
threetiered standard if review for 404(b) determinations in
light of Gen. Elec. Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136 (1997); United

States v. Haywood, 280 F.3d 715, 720 (6th Cir. 2002).

Discussion

Petitioner was tried simultaneously with co-defendant Lepper
and Diepenhost. Petitioner and Diepenhorst were tried before
one jury. Lepper was tried before a separate jury. On the first
day if trial, before selection of the Petitioner/Diepenhorst
jury, the People brought a motion to endorse John Wikenson,
who is Lepper's uncle. Wilkenson was the owner of the Desert
Eagle handgun, one of the weapons believed to have been used
in the commission of the offenses and which was found near the
area where Lepper was arrested. Although the People did not

seek to admit evidence that Wilkinson suspected Lepper as the

person who stole the weapon, they did request and were permitted

to introduce evidence that the weapon was reported stolen or
was taken without permission and that Lepper is Wilkinson's
nephew. (T1 5-10). The record also reflects that Lepper has
a reputation within his family of being known to steal. Although
separate juries were seated, and Lepper was tried by a separate
jury, Wilkinson testified before both juries. (T4 5-19).

As a result, Lepper's prior bad act was introduced in the
presence of Petitioner's jury, and the trial judge deprived
Petitioner of his due process right to a fair trial by failing

to completely sever Petitioner's trial from Lepper's trial.
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Ly

Wilkinson never states he knows or has ever seen Petitioner

before. Furthermore, there is nothing ‘that supports Petitioner

had knowledge of or access to Wilkinson's home at any point,
where the gun was stored. This deprivation entitles Petitioner
to a new trial.

The Constitutional rights to a jury trial and to due process
entitle the accused to fair trial. US Const. Am. V, VI, XIV:
Mich. Const. 1963, art. 1 Sec. 17, 20. An accused may be denied
his Constitutional right to a fair trial where his case is not -

severed from that of a co-defendant who seeks to exculpate

. himself or herself by incriminating the accused. United States

v. Potashnik, 2008 U.S. Dist. Lexis>102299. While the decision
to sever or join defendants for trial rest within trial court's
diﬁcretion, severance is mandated when a defendant's "substantial
rights will be prejudiced" and that severance is necessary to
rectify the potential prejudice. Wright v. Jamrog, 2005 U.S.
Dist. Lexis 35902. Although inconsistency among the
co-defendants' defenses is insufficient to justify severance,
severance is required where the defenses are mutually exclusive
or irrecocilable. United States v. Turner, 860 F. Supp. 1216.
(1994).

Examples of reversible prejudice from severance include
situations in which evidence is admitted against a co—defendaﬁt
that the defendant's jury should not consider against him and
which would not be admissible if he were‘ tried separately.

Evidence of a co-defendant's wrong&dhs is an example of

information the defendant's jury should not hear. It can
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erroneously lead the accused's jury to conclude that he was
guilty. Zafiro v. United States, 506 U.S. 534 (1993). Where
defendants with markedly different degrees of culpability are
tried together, the risk of unfair prejudice is greater. Zafiro,
supra.

Admission of evidence which is probative of defendant's
guilt, but is admissible only against a co-defendant or exclusion
of exculpatory evidence which could have been admitted at a
separate trial are also examples of reversible prejudice
resulting from improper denial of a sevefance request. Bruton
v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968). Another consequence of
the partially-joined trials was that Lepper's unchanged bad

;

acts involving his uncle's gun were admitted before Petitioner's
jury, and Petitioner's jurors were thus exposed to evidence
which had absolutely no relevance to Petitioner. The other acts
evidence, which involved Lepper's. possession of his uncle's
stolen‘ handgun, completely undermined the whole reason for
granting separate juries in the first place. Had Wilkinson
testified only before the Lepper jury, Petitioner would' not
have been judged by the independent acts of his co-defendant,
which were completely idirrelevant to the disposition of the
charges as they related to Petitioner.

Improper evidentiary rulings may deprive the accused of
his State and Federal due process rights. Walker v. Engle, 703
F.2d 959, 962-963 (C.A. 6, 1983). In Holly v. Straub, 2004 U.S.
Dist. Lexis 15646 (6th Eastern Dist.), the court for the Eastern

District of Michigan recognizes the test in People v.
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Golochowicz, 413 Mich. 298 (1982) as "principle of justice so
rooted in the tradition and conscience for our people as to
be ranked as fundamental”; Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S. 37,
43 (1996) (quoting Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S. 197 (1997)).
In other words, a violation of principles of justice that are
rooted din tradition to the point that they are ranked
fundamental, rises to the 1level of a due process violation.
The very first requirement of the Golochowicz four prong test
is: "(1) there 1is substantial evidence that the defendant

" Here in Petitioner's case, there

committed the similar act.
is nothing on the record that even hints at Petitioner
participating in stealing Wilkinson's gun or having knowledge
of the theft. y

The Supreme Court,in Huddleston v. United States, 485 U.S.
681, 689 (1988), while articulating it's view on the "Similar_

”

act and "other" rule 404(b), concluded that the government
may not "parade past the jury a litany of potentially prejudicial
similar acts that have been established or connected to the
defendant only by unsubstantiated innuendo". Proof connecting
fhe defendant to the prior bad acts is required for the evidence-
to be relevant. United States v. Mihm, 13 F.3d 1200, 1205, (8th
Cir. 1994), United States v. Midkiff, 614 F.3d 431 (2010).
The 6th Circuit Court of Appeals reversed with instructions
for a new trial, relying on the ruling of the Supreme Court in

Huddleston, supra., holding that the "first step that the

district court must engage in under the Fed. R. Evid. 404(b)
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analysis is to determine whether there is sufficient evidence
to show that the defendant committed the other acts ... In the
rule 404(b) context, similar act evidence is relevant only if
the jury can reasonably conclude that the act occurred and that
the defendant was the actor". United States v. Bell, 516 F.3d
432 (2008).

In United States v. Sheppard, 2020 U.S. Dist. Lexis 111524,
(granting relief): the court found even if the evidence was
probative of a material issue, the probative value is
substantially outweighed by the potential prejudicial effect.
"Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to defendant's case
that results from legitimate probative force of the evidence:
rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest 'a' decision
on an improper basis." United States v. Newsom, 452 F:3d 593,
603 (6th Cir. 2006) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d
540, 567 (6th Cir. 1993)). "Such improper grounds include
generalizing a defendant's earlier bad acts into bad character
and taking that as raising the odds that he did the latter bad
act now charged ..." United States v. Bell, 516 F.3d 432, 445
(6th Cir. 2008) (quoting Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S.
172, 180-182 (1997)).

Unfortunately at Petitioner's trial, the prosecutor was
permitted to admit acts by co-defendant Lepper, which implicated
Petitioner by association with Lepper. This evidence was
absolutely irrelevant to Petitioner's guilt or innocence and
was therefore, inadmissible. The evidence which was permitted

despite the partial severance and completely prejudiced
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Petitioner's defense. Its devastatingly incriminating impact
can hardly be ignored. Because Petitioner's jury heard of
Lepper's other bad acts, and they were destined to convict
Petitioner without a properly objective view of the evidence.
Its prejudicial impact on the trial's ouftome cannot be
disregarded. The irrelevant evidence undoubtedly had a great
influence on Petitioner's jury. Because the evidence only related
to acts by Lepper it was improperly admitted. Its admission

requires reversal of Petitioner's conviction and a new trial.

32



RELTEF REQUESTED

WHERE FORE, Defendant -Appe.“aw}' Dan Larkin Bozeman 1T pray$ this
Honorable Court veverse ond vacode his convichions baSed on the MU“lee
loow enforcement misconducts JLSplo.yeJ on Hhe face o€ ond ‘H\V‘o@kov*'
~H\.'3 coSe “‘")a,“' Vt\olad'ec) l')LS ConSHquanal Y‘EH'.S anc) U“";Ma"'&,y '!'o.in'l'eg
| «H,g only evidence USed a.gaimSt him (m;SfACV\‘l’;QCo.“';Qh eviJmce);
Alfernahively reverSe and vemand for new trial, with inShruction o
exclude oll photographic and in—covrt (dentiFications, that &JU-SM)«:‘@
thepenc)an'}' recollechion 3¢ l"*"k"‘tﬁl o\m)ﬁr ho$ been i“@a_”y +aih+e,9, on

T‘C}‘ﬂ‘o,l.

Dan Rozeman I #95947)

MuSk%_gon Correctiono. | Ea'“‘")/

2400 S. Sheridan Drive
Dated: 6/29/25 MosKegon MT 49442

33



